#### **RECEIVED**

11-30-2015

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV Appeal No. 2015AP001855 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

ZACHERY J. PAGENKOPF,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM AN AMENDED JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED BY THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR PORTAGE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE THOMAS P. EAGON PRESIDING

> Respectfully submitted, ZACHERY J. PAGENKOPF Defendant-Appellant, by, AUGUST LAW OFFICE L.L.C. Attorney for the Defendant-Appellant 216 S. Hamilton Street Madison, WI 53703 (608) 255-9491

BY: CHRISTOPHER P. AUGUST State Bar No. 1087502

####

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

- 1. Did the trial court err by denying Mr. Pagenkopf's request for a de novo review of the restitution matter?
- 2. In addition and in the alternative, did the trial court erroneously exercise its discretion when it concluded that Mr. Pagenkopf's actions "caused" the injuries at issue?
- 3. In addition and in the alternative, did the trial court erroneously exercise its discretion in awarding restitution related to medical costs?
- 4. In addition and in the alternative, did the trial court erroneously exercise its discretion when it failed to take Mr. Pagenkopf's indigency into account when ordering restitution?
- 5. In addition and in the alternative, did the trial court erroneously exercise its discretion in awarding the bulk of the restitution to insurance companies?

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Pagenkopf requests neither oral argument nor publication.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal concerns the process by which restitution was determined by the lower court as well as the restitution order itself. (54:1). Following Mr. Pagenkopf's pleas to charges of battery and disorderly conduct, counsel for Mr. Pagenkopf requested a restitution hearing. (45:1; 41:1-2). The matter was referred to a court commissioner, who conducted an evidentiary hearing on December 3, 2014. (25:1; 58:1). The commissioner made "findings of fact" and transmitted a proposed order to the Circuit Court. (41:1-3). The Circuit Court signed off on those findings on January 5, 2015. (41:3). The restitution amount was eventually added to an amended judgment of conviction. (45:1-2).

On January 6, 2015, counsel for Mr. Pagenkopf filed a request for a de novo review of the restitution matter (39:1). That request was denied in a written order the following day. (40:1). Counsel for Mr. Pagenkopf filed a motion for reconsideration. (42:1-4). A hearing was held and the motion was orally denied. (59:5). A notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief was filed. (43:1-2). This appeal eventually followed. (54:1-2).

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

#### The Restitution Hearing

The victim in this case, S.D., testified at the restitution hearing presided over by Circuit Court Commissioner David Worzalla. (58:1; 58:6). S.D. is the undisputed victim of the underlying misdemeanor battery pleaded to by Mr. Pagenkopf.

(58:6).

The underlying altercation occurred on January 1, 2013—roughly two years before the restitution hearing. (58:7). As a result of that fight, S.D. claimed that he had a "torn quadriceps tendon" in his left knee. (58:8). S.D. claimed the injury occurred when he was "taken down to the ground" by Mr. Pagenkopf. (58:8).

Notwithstanding that alleged injury, S.D. testified that he was able to leave the residence following the fight. (58:8). S.D. indicated that he was forced to crawl. (58:37). However, the investigating officer testified that while the snow was examined for footprints, there was no apparently no evidence of crawl marks. (58:55).

S.D. testified that he noticed the injury the morning after the fight when his knee appeared to be swollen. (58:8-9). He claimed that he had difficulty walking. (58:9). However, S.D. did not report the injury to law enforcement when he was contacted by Deputy Chad McClellan on that same day. (58:53; 58:58). Deputy McClellan also testified that the knee was neither "braced" nor "iced." (58:57). S.D. was not limping and actually went to work following the police contact. (58:57). S.D. corroborated this, responding affirmatively to counsel's question as to whether he "walked out the door and went to work" following his interview with law enforcement. (59:30).

S.D. continued to work for roughly another month.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mr. Dietz also did not report it the night of the fight, having left the scene before the arrival of law enforcement. (58:28). He did so out of fear that he would be arrested. (58:27).

(58:23). S.D. first visited a doctor three weeks after the fight on January 22, 2013. (58:31-33). His family doctor generated a contemporaneous report regarding that visit. (36:1). That report indicates that the knee pain had been in existence for at least six months prior to the visit. (36:1). The report indicates that S.D. "has no known significant injury to that knee." (36:1). S.D. continued working for several more weeks after that visit, until February 13, 2013. (58:35).

Eventually, S.D. visited a specialist, who performed the actual tendon repair. (58:41). A "Physician Certification" was submitted to the Wisconsin Crime Victim Compensation Program. (58:40-41; 36:1). That report indicates that S.D. twisted his knee on the ice. (58:41; 36:1).

With respect to the report of his family doctor, S.D. testified that the doctor may have confused a long-term injury in the right knee with the allegedly new injury to the left knee. (58:47). With respect to the statement of the specialist, S.D. was able to obtain a later statement from the physician that contradicted the earlier report and supported the restitution claim. (58:48).

#### The Restitution Order

The court commissioner indicated in his "findings of fact" that "[a]lthough S.D. did not originally complain of knee pain and there was some confusion by doctors as to causation, testimony at the hearing...sufficiently rehabilitated the previous confusion and the court specifically finds that Mr.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Mr. Dietz also tried unsuccessfully to submit bills for unrelated medical costs to the Crime Victim Compensation Fund. (58:40).

Pagenkopf's actions were the cause of S.D.'s knee injury." (41:2).

Regarding the amount owed, the commissioner first concluded that a health insurance company, ACS, was owed \$9,594.75 for bills apparently related to S.D.'s injury. (41:2). The source of that figure was a summary exhibit prepared by the Portage County District Attorney's Office. (36:1). In addition, the commissioner also found that S.D. was owed an additional \$4,332.04 related to out of pocket costs. (41:2).

Another insurance company—Reliance Standard Life Insurance—was awarded \$1,730.16 in restitution to compensate for disability payments made to S.D. (41:2). Finally, the State of Wisconsin was awarded \$3,617.74 as a result of payments made under the Crime Victim Compensation Program. (41:2). All in all, Mr. Pagenkopf was ordered to pay \$19,274.69 in restitution. (41:3).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mr. Pagenkopf first asserts that he was wrongly denied de novo review of the underlying "decision" by the circuit court commissioner regarding restitution. The plain language of the statute, as well as well-settled case law, supports the proposition that de novo review should have been available to Mr. Pagenkopf.

Mr. Pagenkopf also asserts that the restitution award itself was erroneous for several reasons. First, it was not based on sufficiently rational or convincing evidence that Mr. Pagenkopf's actions caused the injury at issue. Second, the evidence relating to medical bills was vague, confusing and

incomplete. More importantly, the lower court appears to have made at least one serious error in calculating the amount owed by Mr. Pagenkopf. Third, the lower court gave no consideration to Mr. Pagenkopf's indigency. Finally, there is no reliable way of assessing whether "justice required" the award of restitution to an insurance company.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

Interpretation of the statute governing the applicability of de novo review by the circuit court is a question of law reviewed de novo. *See State v. Gillespie*, 2005 WI App 25, ¶6 278 Wis.2d 630, 693 N.W.2d 320

A challenge to the restitution order is reviewed under the erroneous exercise of discretion standard. *State v. Haase*, 2006 WI App 86, ¶5, 716 N.W.2d 526, 293 Wis.2d 322.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. The Circuit Court erred in denying the defense motion for de novo review.

#### A. Background.

Here, the Circuit Court referred the restitution matter to the court commissioner in accordance with WIS. STAT. § 973.20(13)(c)(4). That commissioner then held a hearing, at which it found facts and, in so doing, effectively determined the credibility of the witnesses, weighed the evidence and evaluated the competing legal arguments advanced by the parties. At the conclusion of that hearing, it submitted a proposed restitution order to the Circuit Court. The proposed

order was adopted without a further hearing and without modification.

The underlying decision was then challenged by defense counsel via a motion for de novo review pursuant to WIS. STAT. § 757.69(8) which states:

Any decision of a circuit court commissioner shall be reviewed by the judge of the branch of court to which the case has been assigned, upon motion of any party. Any determination, order, or ruling by a circuit court commissioner may be certified to the branch of court to which the case has been assigned, upon a motion of any party for a hearing de novo.

The motion was denied as was the ensuing motion for reconsideration. (40:1; 59:5). The Circuit Court concluded that 1) no "decision" had actually been made by the commissioner and 2) "the intent of the legislature was not to require a de novo hearing for this restitution phase." (59:4-5).

### B. Mr. Pagenkopf was entitled to de novo review of the commissioner's "decision."

The de novo statute allows a party to obtain circuit court review whenever a court commissioner makes a "decision." WIS. STAT. § 757.69(8).

The issue is therefore relatively clear-cut. The commissioner did hold a hearing and did make findings. Those findings were the basis for the restitution order. (In fact, the commissioner's proposed order became *the* order). Importantly, the findings do more than articulate basic facts, rather, they are the clear result of a deliberative legal process.

They embody substantive legal conclusions regarding the proper application of the restitution statute to this set of circumstances. On these facts, the statute allowing for de novo review appears to clearly fit. Because the statute is straightforward and has broad language giving it wide application, the issue should therefore be resolved in Mr. Pagenkopf's favor.

However, one potential objection should be briefly dealt with: A claim that the de novo statute does not apply because the commissioner has not *really* made a decision for the purposes of that statute. After all, so the argument goes, the ultimate order was actually imposed by the Circuit Court. (*See* 59:3). However, such legalistic shuffling ignores the fact that the underlying judgments on which that order is based—who is owed what, whether causation has been proven, etcetera—are entirely "determined" by the commissioner. To claim that this is not a "decision" for the purposes of the de novo statute appears to fly in the face of common sense. It also contravenes sound principles of statutory interpretation.

After all, it is settled law that, when performing statutory interpretation, a controverted term ought to be given its "common, ordinary, and accepted meaning." *See State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court*, 2004 WI 58, ¶43, 271 Wis.2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. One meaning of "decision" found in the dictionary is "a determination arrived at after consideration."

Here, the commissioner clearly made such a "determination" inasmuch as he ascertained who was owed what, and more importantly, why. While those "findings" were

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/decision

later ratified by the Circuit Court that does not deprive them of their status as a "decision." The term is not ambiguous and reasonably decipherable, in Mr. Pagenkopf's favor, by application of relatively straightforward interpretative tools. Mr. Pagenkopf was therefore entitled to de novo review.

## C. De novo review of the restitution decision is not foreclosed by other legal authority.

The lower court is correct that *State v. Gillespie* exempts certain decisions made by the court commissioner from de novo review. (40:1); *State v. Gillespie*, 2005 WI App 25, 278 Wis.2d 630, 693 N.W.2d 320. However, a close reading of the proffered authority fails to support the ruling from which Mr. Pagenkopf appeals.

Gillespie dealt with a request for a de novo review of a commissioner's probable cause determination after a preliminary hearing—essentially a request for a second preliminary hearing. Id. ¶1. The Court of Appeals held that review by the circuit court under the de novo statute was precluded in that case for two specific reasons. First, there is already a statute addressing those circumstances under which a second preliminary hearing may be held. Gillespie, 2005 WI App. at ¶8. The existence of that statute "reveals that the legislature had the opportunity to address a second examination in [the defendant's] favor and chose not to do so." Id. The Court of Appeals was therefore disinclined to create a statutory right which was at odds with implicit legislative intent. In other words, because the legislature had already addressed the issue of a second preliminary hearing elsewhere in the statutes, the de novo statute's general statement was effectively preempted by the legislature's more restrictive statutory scheme.

Second, a defendant requesting circuit court review of a probable cause determination already has a means of obtaining such review by filing a motion to dismiss. *Id.* ¶9. Lacking evidence to the contrary, the Court of Appeals therefore rejected an interpretation of the de novo statute that would "radically change" that legal status quo. *Id.* 

Gillespie therefore stands for the proposition that the de novo statute's blanket rule will not apply when the legislature has either already addressed the specific issue elsewhere in the statutes or when there is another preexisting legal alternative.

The most recent opinion of this Court on the subject puts forth a corollary of that rule and holds that unless specifically precluded by other statutory authority, the de novo statute will apply to a court commissioner's decision. In the Matter of the Mental Commitment of T.B., No. 2015AP799, unpublished slip op. (Wis. Ct. App. October 1, 2015). T.B. concerns the availability of a second probable cause hearing in mental commitment proceedings held before court commissioners. Id. ¶15. Because there is nothing in the mental commitment statutes precluding de novo review of that determination, individuals in mental commitment proceedings may use the statute to obtain circuit court review. Id. In other words, unless there is authority to the contrary, the blanket de novo provision applies.

Here, the Circuit Court claimed that the de novo statute is unavailable to criminal defendants simply because the controverted "decision" occurred in context of a restitution proceeding. However, there is no procedure outlined in the statutes for a second restitution hearing. There is no alternative procedure for obtaining circuit court review prior to the imposition of an amended judgment of conviction. Most importantly, there is nothing in the statutes specifically precluding de novo review. In light of both *Gillespie* and *T.B.*, Mr. Pagenkopf had a right to de novo review.

D. Concerns of efficiency are not relevant and do not "trump" Mr. Pagenkopf's right to have the restitution issue decided by an elected judge rather than by a commissioner.

Following *T.B.*, it is clear that extrinsic concerns—such as judicial economy and circuit court workloads—are simply not relevant to the question of what a given statute says. *In re T.B.*, No. 2015AP799, ¶13. Speculative inferences that that de novo review will "slow down" the restitution process should have little to do with whether Mr. Pagenkopf was entitled to de novo review. (59:5).

This is because application of the de novo statute serves core ideals in our judicial system. Circuit court commissioners are not subject to the same scrutiny as elected judges and may labor under conditions that are less conducive to a just result.<sup>4</sup> Mr. Pagenkopf had a right to have his restitution arguments heard by an elected court of his jurisdiction, not merely a commissioner thereof.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See In the Matter of the Mental Condition of C.M.B., 165 Wis.2d 703, 716, 478 N.W.2d 385 (1992) (Abrahamson, C.J., dissenting).

For all these reasons, reversal is therefore warranted at this time.

II. In addition and in the alternative, the Circuit Court erroneously exercised its discretion when it concluded that Mr. Pagenkopf's actions were a "substantial factor" in causing S.D.'s injury.

At the restitution hearing, the burden was on S.D. to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that his injuries were causally linked to the actions of Mr. Pagenkopf. WIS. STAT. § 973.20(14)(a); *State v. Canady*, 2000 WI App 87, ¶ 9, 234 Wis.2d 261, 610 N.W.2d 147. This means that, prior to restitution being awarded, S.D. was required to prove that Mr. Pagenkopf's actions were "the precipitating cause of the injury and the harm must have resulted from the natural consequences of the actions." *Canady*, 2000 WI App ¶ 9 (quoting *State v. Behnke*, 203 Wis.2d 43, 553 N.W.2d 265 (Ct. App. 1996)) (quotations and brackets omitted).

Here, Mr. Pagenkopf challenges the restitution order itself. That order is reviewed under the "erroneous exercise of discretion" standard. *Haase*, 2006 WI App 86, ¶5. A trial court erroneously exercises its discretion when the ruling at issue is either not based on a "logical interpretation of the facts" or does not reflect a reasonable conclusion. *Id.* ¶6; *Martindale v. Ripp*, 2001 WI 113, ¶ 28, 246 Wis.2d 67, 629 N.W.2d 698. That standard is satisfied here.

The dispositive issue is whether it was reasonable to conclude that S.D.'s injury was really caused by Mr. Pagenkopf. The testimony at the restitution hearing makes such a finding plainly unreasonable. First and most importantly, the

contemporaneous medical records are at odds with S.D.'s story. The initial report to the family doctor details a long-standing injury to his left leg that had been worsening for several months. (36:1). The report clearly distinguishes between the right knee (which also had a preexisting issue) and the left knee, which was the subject of the January 22, 2013 visit. (36:1). When confronted with the inconsistency, S.D. testified that his doctor must have made a "mistake" and somehow mixed up the two knees. (58:45-47). The doctor was never called as a witness and, in any case, S.D.'s explanation of the "mistake" lacks credibility and is transparently self-serving.

When S.D. finally visited a specialist, that specialist was apparently told that the injury was caused by slipping on ice. (36:1). When confronted with a document to that effect at the hearing, S.D. indicated that it was the first time he was seeing the doctor's contrary opinion and expressed confusion as to why that information would be present. (58:42). However, S.D.'s confusing testimony appears to suggest that this version of events came directly from his own lips. (58:48). S.D. claimed that he hid the truth out of embarrassment. (58:48). Contrary to his initial response, he was aware of the inconsistency as he later requested that the specialist write a note more consistent with the restitution claim. (58:49).

Second, the evidence related to the fight's aftermath fails to support the claim. S.D. claimed to suffer from a serious leg injury the night of the fight but also claimed that this injury did not prevent him from fleeing the scene before the arrival of law enforcement. (58:8). When confronted on cross-examination, S.D. tried to keep his story consistent by claiming that he had been forced to crawl. (58:37). However, S.D. was

unable to provide any corroboration of that story. (58:38). Although responding officers tracked Mr. Pagenkopf through the snow, there was apparently no evidence of crawl marks in the same vicinity. (58:55). Officer McClellan, one of the responding officers, testified that if the account were true he would expect to find such marks. (58:54). Witnesses interviewed by law enforcement reported that S.D. was able to leave the scene. (58:62).

Third, S.D. did not report the injury to law enforcement until many months after the initial incident—despite claiming to notice the injury the very next day. (58:8-9). Although S.D. claimed to have included the injury in his initial statement, Officer McClellan testified that no such report was made. (58:58). Although S.D. described multiple injuries to law enforcement, he said nothing about his leg. (58:59). Likewise, while photos were taken of injuries, none were of his leg. (58:59). Officer McClellan testified that the knee was not braced or iced. (58:57). S.D. did not have a noticeable limp and actually left the interview to go straight to work. (58:58).

Finally, his post-fight behavior is inconsistent with the alleged injury. Despite his claim that he could "barely walk" as a result of the injury, S.D. admitted he "walked out the door" and went to work following that initial interview with law enforcement. (58:30). He continued working jobs that required the use of his leg for at least another month before the injury was ever reported. (58:10; 58:35).

No medical or expert testimony was presented at the restitution hearing that might sufficiently explain the actual causation of S.D.'s injury. The only such information was in the form of a conclusory doctor's note prepared specifically at

S.D.'s request long after the initial consultation was performed. (58:49-50).

Simply put, the available evidence fails to link S.D.'s knee injury with the fight. A conclusion that such causation had been sufficiently proven is simply unreasonable on the face of these facts, which evince multiple alternative causes and numerous instances of incredibility on the part of S.D. Even with the lesser standard of proof at a restitution hearing—and even under the comparatively forgiving standard of review—the evidence is simply not convincing and the conclusions drawn manifestly unreasonable as a matter of law. The entire restitution award is therefore erroneous and should be vacated on appeal.

# III. In addition and in the alternative, the Circuit Court erroneously exercised its discretion with respect to the order awarding restitution for alleged medical costs.

In support of the restitution request, a restitution summary was prepared. (36:1). Little supporting documentation regarding the health insurance costs was prepared or submitted. While a court may rely on a summary when that summary is not contested, that was not the case here. See State v. Szarkowitz, 157 Wis.2d 740, 749, 460 N.W.2d 819 (Ct. App. 1990).

The commissioner concluded that ACS was owed \$9,594.75 for payments apparently made to medical providers as a result of S.D.' knee injury. (41:2). In addition, S.D. was apparently also owed \$4,332.04 for *his* out of pocket costs. (41:2). With respect to the latter sum, S.D. testified that amount

"must be what I paid toward my bills" although he also indicated that some *other* amount was still outstanding. (58:14).

On cross-examination, S.D. testified that he had a \$2,500 deductible that he would be required to pay. (58:21). In S.D.'s account, the insurance was responsible for "80 [percent] on certain things but, I mean, that is not set, no, they don't pay everything over that \$2,500, absolutely not." (58:21). The exact payment structure was not further clarified. Moreover, S.D. was unclear as to how much of the deductible he had actually paid, indicating he "paid a good portion to this for my insurance to pick up." (58:21). He assumed that he would have paid the deductible plus "some" of the twenty percent remaining. (58:21). No documentation to further explain the situation was entered into evidence. More problematically, there was no evidence introduced to explain what overlap, if any, existed between the payments from the Crime Victim Compensation Fund and the medical bills at issue.

The restitution order, however, takes the numbers at face value. Lacking more specific testimony and documentation, the Circuit Court erroneously exercised its discretion when it awarded restitution on the strength of this evidence. The testimony simply does not establish what S.D.'s actual medical costs were and it offers no meaningful way of understanding the distribution of costs across the parties. For these reasons, the award is erroneous as it based on an incomplete record which cannot reasonably support the lower court's exercise of discretion.

However, there is also a bigger problem. As it stands, the Circuit Court appears to have treated the amount submitted by ACS as a "gross" expense. It then deducted from that amount a portion that it believes S.D. would be separately responsible for. (41:2). However, it then ordered that Mr. Pagenkopf pay S.D. for his portion *and* that he pay the total insurance amount at issue. (41:2). This is double-dipping and plainly contrary to a reasonable exercise of discretion.

Accordingly, the restitution award with respect to health care costs is the result of an erroneous exercise of discretion and should be vacated on appeal.

## IV. In addition and in the alternative, the Circuit Court erroneously exercised its discretion when it failed to consider Mr. Pagenkopf's indigency.

The defendant's financial position is an issue the circuit court *must* consider when imposing restitution. WIS. STAT. 973.20(13)(a)2-4 all speak to the defendant's ability to pay. These are factors that the restitution authority "shall consider." *Id.* The statute, however, places the burden of proof regarding these factors on the defendant. WIS. STAT. § 973.20(14)(b). The Court of Appeals has held that when a defendant fails to present such evidence, the issue is not before the court imposing restitution and thus no findings on this point are required. *Szarkowitz*, 157 Wis.2d at 749-50.

Mr. Pagenkopf, while acknowledging the controlling authority, nevertheless urges this Court to revisit the issue here. This case should be distinguished from *Szarkowitz* because it presents an issue not directly addressed therein. Here, the record plainly demonstrates that Mr. Pagenkopf was represented by the State Public Defender. (34:1). In order to qualify for such assistance, Mr. Pagenkopf had to disclose

financial information to the State Public Defender and satisfy indigency criteria. Thus, at the time of his hearing, a governmental agency had already found Mr. Pagenkopf to be indigent and the Circuit Court, via the continued involvement of SPD counsel, was on notice of Mr. Pagenkopf's financial situation.

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