STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

RECEIVED

02-02-2016

Case No. 2015AP1855 – CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff- Respondent,

v.

ZACHERY J. PAGENKOPF,

Defendant-Appellant.

### ON APPEAL FROM AN AMENDED JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED BY THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR PORTAGE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE THOMAS P. EAGON PRESIDING

### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT STATE OF WISCONSIN

CASS COUSINS Assistant District Attorney State Bar # 1079769

Attorney of Plaintiff-Respondent

Portage County District Attorney's Office 1516 Church St. Stevens Point, Wisconsin 54481 (715) 346-1300 (715) 346-1236 cass.cousins@da.wi.gov

###

#### ARGUMENT

### I. The Circuit Court appropriately denied Mr. Pagenkopf's motion for de novo review.

### A. Standard of Review.

The State agrees with Mr. Pagenkopf that the applicability of de novo review by the circuit court is a question of law reviewed de novo.

# B. Restitution was determined and ordered by the sentencing court.

When imposing a sentence or probation for a crime, a court may order full or partial restitution. WIS. STAT. § 973.20(1r). When the restitution amount is under dispute, the sentencing court has several options, one of which is to refer the matter to a court commissioner or other referee for a hearing. WIS. STAT. § 973.20(13)(c)4. Following the hearing, the sentencing court "shall determine the amount of restitution on the basis of the record submitted by the referee and incorporate it into the sentence or probation order imposed." *Id*.

In this matter, Mr. Pagenkopf disputed the restitution requested by the State in its restitution summary. The sentencing judge referred the dispute to a court commissioner, who conducted the hearing, hearing testimony and viewing exhibits. Subsequently, the court commissioner prepared a proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law, dated December 14, 2014. (41:1-2). This was reviewed by the sentencing court, and on January 5, 2015, the court issued a restitution order and incorporated that amount into the probation order. (41:3).

Mr. Pagenkopf's reliance on the provision for de novo review of a court commissioner decision in WIS. STAT. § 757.69(8) is misplaced. Despite the characterization of the court commissioner's involvement in this matter as making a "decision," the order incorporating the restitution in the probation is made by the circuit court judge that presided over sentencing. The proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law of the court commissioner, standing alone, have zero legal effect. This distinguishes the issue before the court from other matters involving a court commissioner, such as an order to bind over for trial, or a mental commitment. Instead, restitution is set only at the moment that the circuit court judge, having reviewed the record, orders that restitution be incorporated into the sentence or probation. It is important to note that the court is free to reject or modify the findings.

Moreover, WIS. STAT. § 973.20(13)(c)4 allows the hearing to be conducted by a court commissioner or an "other appropriate referee." Nothing else in WIS. STAT. § 973.20 allows "de novo" review of the finding of facts and conclusions of law prepared by an appropriate referee other than a court commissioner. Accepting Mr. Pagenkopf's argument would create a peculiar procedure in which a court commissioner's findings would be subject to de novo review, while those of a non-commissioner referee would not. This is an absurd result, and should serve to emphasize the point that restitution order and its incorporation into a sentence is an order of the sentencing court, not the court commissioner.

# C. Mr. Pagenkopf has no right to de novo review of the circuit court's restitution order.

Given this fact, the defendant is not entitled to de novo review of the restitution order, as that would be tantamount to a right to de novo review of a circuit court order to that same circuit court. The State is unaware of, and Mr. Pagenkopf has presented no authority, on the existence of such a right.

### II. The restitution order and attribution of the injury is based on a reasonable interpretation of the facts presented at the restitution hearing.

### A. Standard of Review.

Mr. Pagenkopf's challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence supporting the restitution order is reviewed under the erroneous exercise of discretion standard. *State v. Haase*, 206 WI App 86, ¶ 5, 293 Wis. 2d 322. An order should be reversed "only if the [trial] court applied the wrong legal standard or did not ground its decision on a logical interpretation of the facts." *State v. Canady*, 2000 WI App 87, ¶ 6, 234 Wis.2d 261, 610 N.W.2d 147.

## B. The restitution order is grounded on a logical interpretation of the facts.

At the restitution hearing, the evidence must establish a causal link between a victim's injuries and the actions of the defendant. WIS. STAT. § 973.20(14)(a). Counsel is correct that Mr. Pagenkopf's actions must be "the precipitating cause of the injury and the harm must have natural resulted from the natural consequences of the actions." State v. Canady, 2000 WI App 87, ¶ 9, 234. Wis. 2d 261. However, 'precipitating cause' does not mean "that the defendant must have caused directly or even intended or expected the damage encompassed by the restitution order." State v. Rash, 2003 WI App 32, ¶ 7, 260 Wis. 2d 369 (quotes omitted). Instead, "it is sufficient if the defendant's actions were a substantial factor in causing the damage in a 'but for' sense." Id. Thus, "precipitating cause" merely means that the defendant's criminal act set into motion events that resulted in the injury. Id.

Furthermore, "in ordering restitution, the sentencing court must take a defendant's entire course of conduct into consideration and not break down the defendant's conduct into its constituent parts and ascertain whether one or more parts were a cause of the victim's damages. Additionally, a criminal cannot escape responsibility for restitution simply because he or she was not aware of the damage." *Id.*, ¶ 8 (quotes omitted).

At the restitution hearing, S.D. testified that he suffered a tear in his left quadriceps tendon when assaulted by Mr. Pagenkopf. (58:9-12). In extended cross examination,

trial counsel questioned S.D. about delayed reporting of the knee injury, attribution of the injury to slipping on ice, and medical records relating to the injury. (58:28-29; 58:34; 58:41-42). S.D. responded to questions on these issues, and ultimately, the court commissioner stated, "...testimony at the hearing by [S.D.] and Dr. Mitchell's note (Exhibit 8) sufficiently rehabilitated the previous confusion and this court specifically finds that Mr. Pagenkopf's actions were the cause of [S.D.]'s knee injury." (41:2). The court commissioner explicitly addressed the issues raised by Mr. Pagenkopf that tended to call in to question the origin of his injury. Nonetheless, the court commissioner's proposed findings of fact were that Mr. Pagenkopf's actions caused the knee injury. (41:2). While Mr. Pagenkopf may contest this conclusion, under a full review of the transcript from the restitution hearing, this conclusion is nonetheless grounded upon a reasonable interpretation of the facts.

### III. The restitution ordered for medical costs either uncontested or based on a logical interpretation of the evidence.

In his brief, Mr. Pagenkopf questions the restitution ordered to ACS in the amount of \$9,594.75. This amount was derived from a restitution summary submitted to the court commissioner at the restitution hearing. (36:1). This summary also included a value for S.D.'s financial loss from his deductible and contribution to medical bills.

The State takes the position that the amount or basis ACS claim \$9,594.75 was not contested and the court appropriately relied upon the restitution summary submitted at the hearing. *State v. Szarkowitz*, 157 Wis. 2d 740, 749, 460 N.W.2d 819 (Ct. App. 1990). Instead, the focus of the controversy was existence of a causal link between the restitution request and the actions of Mr. Pagenkopf. Therefore, the restitution summary provides a basis upon which the court commissioner reasonably relied to set the restitution obligation to ACS.

Regarding S.D.'s restitution request of the medical bills beyond the \$2,500 deductible, he testified to the basis of these amounts on direct and cross examination. (58:14-15;

58:21-22). While not extensively detailed, S.D. provided a sufficient explanation underlying the restitution figure presented in the summary. Further, the heart of the controversy is not the restitution amount – similar to the ACS bill, the issue underlying the entire restitution hearing is the causal link between the crime and S.D.'s knee injury.

### IV. Mr. Pagenkopf presented no evidence on ability to pay to the circuit court, waiving the issue for sentencing purposes.

A sentencing court must consider a defendant's earning ability and financial resources when imposing restitution. WIS. STAT. § 973.20(13)(a). The burden of proof for presenting evidence on these issues falls on the defendant. WIS. STAT. § 973.20(14). When the defendant fails to offer evidence the considerations outlined in WIS. STAT. § 973.20(13)(a), the trial court may order restitution without making detailed findings. State v. Szarkowitz, 157 Wis. 2d 740, 460 N.W.2d 819 (Ct. App. 1990). Mr. Pagenkopf did not avail himself of the opportunity to present such evidence at the restitution hearing. Nowhere does Szarkowitz support the assertion that public defender representation alone satisfies a defendant's burden, and further requires detailed findings regarding financial resources and ability to pay. Under this longstanding precedent, the sentencing court was exempted from making detailed findings on Mr. Pagenkopf's ability to pay. With regards to Mr. Pagenkopf's observation that the restitution order should accomplish "substantial justice between the parties," in the State's estimation, substantial justice is served by a restitution order that aims to make financially whole S.D and the other victims of Mr. Pagenkopf's crimes.

# V. The court's order of restitution to losses suffered by insurance companies was an appropriate use of discretion.

Mr. Pagenkopf's final alternative argument is that the court abused its discretion when it ordered that he pay restitution to various insurance companies for expenses incurred in S.D.'s medical treatment and for lost income. The state is unaware of any law or precedent establishing that certain classes of victims are undeserving of restitution when they have suffered a financial loss as a result of a crime. Moreover, Mr. Pagenkopf's argument rests on the premise that the circuit court abused its discretion elsewhere in ordering restitution in the first place – as such, this separate assertion is redundant and similarly without merit.

### **CONCLUSION**

The sentencing court appropriately denied Mr. Pagenkopf's request for de novo review of its own order, and in all other ways properly exercised its discretion in ordering restitution in this matter.